UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA GRADUATE COLLEGE

THE ROLE OF ANGER AND LINGUISTIC AGENCY ON INTENTIONS TO PARTICIPATE ${\tt IN\ ACTIVISM}$

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

By

MARISA PENKAUSKAS Norman, Oklahoma 2020

THE ROLE OF ANGER AND LINGUISTIC AGENCY ON INTENTIONS TO PARTICIPATE ${\rm IN} \ {\rm ACTIVISM}$

A THESIS APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNICATION

BY THE COMMITTEE CONSISTING OF

Dr. Elena Bessarabova, Chair

Dr. Lindsey Meeks

Dr. John Banas

Acknowledgements

I am incredibly grateful for the support I have received in completing my master's degree and thesis. First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Elena Bessarabova. At the beginning of the fruition of my thesis, a global pandemic hit, and I simultaneously faced hardships at home. You gave me the space I needed to focus on myself as well as the push I needed to get back into doing what I love: academia! You give me the verbal affirmations I need to believe in myself and the firmness to stay on task. I am so grateful for you.

Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Lindsey Meeks and Dr. John Banas. Dr. Meeks, thank you so much for your patience as I navigate my personal life and grow as a scholar. You inspire me to continue examining the political structures that silence marginalized communities - specifically around sex and gender. Dr. Banas (and Dr. Bessarabova), thank you so much for introducing me to social influence and persuasion! When I stopped by Burton Hall before applying to the University of Oklahoma, and we had a chance to talk about the communication processes I found interesting from my past marketing job, I had no idea I'd stick with social influence. You recognized the area I was interested in before I did. I hope to continue working with all three of you on future research projects.

I'd also like to thank my partner, Brandie, and brother, Kevin, as well as my wonderful friends. Brandie, you support my dreams more than I can put into words. I'm so happy to have found someone who both motivates me to be everything I want to be and calms me when I feel overwhelmed. Kevin, you have always been my teammate. Thank you for your unconditional love and for letting me borrow money when times get tough! Your drive inspires me every day. Lastly, I want to thank my friends/colleagues, Dr. Natalie Daugherty and Juliana Barbati. Natalie, thank you so much for your continuous listening ear and advice in regard to all my

worries about school, work/life balance, and everything! Juliana, thank you for giving me so many tips in teaching, reading articles, and navigating my thesis. You have been a constant area of support in my program. I appreciate each and every single one of you so much!

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements
Abstractvii
Chapter 1: Introduction
Chapter 2: Theoretical Rationale
Anger
Linguistic Agency
Interaction Between Anger and Agency
Method
Participants
Design and Procedure
Instrumentation
Dependent Variables
Results
Multivariate Effects
Hypotheses Tests
Chapter 5: Discussion
Limitations and Future Directions
Conclusion
References
Table 1. Means, Standard Deviations, and Bivariate Correlations between Variables
Appendix A – Anger Human Agency Condition
Appendix B – Anger Abstract Agency Condition

Appendix C – Control Abstract Agency Condition	. 31
Appendix D – Control Human Agency Condition	. 32
Appendix E – Perceptions of Anger Index	. 33
Appendix F – Behavioral Intentions to Participate in Activism Index	34
Appendix G – Perceptions of Efficacy Index	35

Abstract

This study examines the effects of anger and linguistic agency on message processing and activism behavioral intentions in the context of sexual assault. Despite social movements such as #MeToo and #TimesUp, sexual violence is still a common occurrence in the U.S. (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). This thesis examines how anger and linguistic agency influence participation in social movements that spread awareness about the prevalence of sexual assault. A 2 (emotion: anger, control) × 2 (agency: human, abstract) independent group experiment (N = 288) was conducted. Two main effects were predicted: Anger (relative to the control condition) and human agency assignment (relative to abstract agency assignment) were predicted to increase anger perceptions, efficacy perceptions, and behavioral intentions to participate in activism. In addition, an interaction effect between anger and agency was hypothesized. Although the interaction effect was not significant, the results indicated that anger induction significantly increased perceptions of anger, and an increase in anger perceptions was positively associated with behavioral intentions to participate in activism. Furthermore, efficacy perceptions were found to bolster activism intentions. These and other results are discussed along with implications, limitations, and future research directions.

Keywords: linguistic agency, anger, sexual assault, message processing, emotion

Chapter 1: Introduction

In the U.S. alone, 43.6% (about 52.2 million) of women and 24.8% (about 27.6 million) men experienced some form of sexual violence in their lifetime (CDC, 2015). One in five women and one in fourteen men in the U.S. reported completed or attempted rape in their lifetime (CDC, 2015). Most of the female victims of completed or attempted rape experienced sexual victimization early in life, with 81.3% (about 20.8 million) reporting that it occurred before the age of 25 (CDC, 2015), indicating that most female assault survivors experience sexual violence by the time they graduate college. Sexual assault is rampant on college campuses. One in four women are raped in college and four out of five rape victims subsequently suffer from chronic physical or psychological conditions (DoSomething.org). Sexual violence clearly presents a considerable societal problem. To address it, recent social justice movements (e.g., #MeToo and #TimesUp) have been successful at capitalizing on public anger and outrage.

The anger that sparks activism is palpable. Many female activists associated with the movement have overtly expressed their anger. As author, teacher, and Black feminist, Brittney Cooper (2018) describes in her book, *Eloquent Rage: A Black Feminist Discovers Her Superpower*: "what I have is anger. Rage, actually. And that's the place where more women should begin – with the things that make us angry" (p. 1). The actress, Uma Thurman, and many other actors who worked with the convicted sexual offender, Harvey Weinstein, spoke out about the anger arising from Hollywood about sexual misconduct (Carlin, 2017). Their anger has motivated the public to join movements such as #MeToo (Garber, 2017), mobilizing women to unite against sexual assault and harassment.

Using energizing properties of anger to motivate action can be effective. Communication scholars and social psychologists have long recognized that anger effects can be adaptive, motivating attentional focus (Turner, 2013), desire to fix a problem (Averill, 1982), and support

for pro-social policy positions (e.g., Turner et al., 2019). Because anger is aroused from perceived injustice (Turner, 2013), a distinct action tendency of anger is the desire to restore justice and punish the anger-inducing entity (e.g., Lerner et al., 2015).

However, in the context of sexual assault, the target of blame is not always clear because the linguistic structures chosen to talk about this issue tend to rely on abstract terms (known as abstract agency assignment) like *sexual assault* instead of directly talking about the *perpetrators* of the assault (known as human agency assignment). The discourse tends to use ambiguous phrases such as "sexual assault was reported last night on campus" instead of a direct statement such as "a man sexually assaulted a woman." Thus, the first goal of this study is to integrate the research on anger and linguistic agency to understand whether and how these variables interact to influence people's attitudes and behavioral intentions to right the wrong or restore justice.

The present research has several theoretical and practical implications: (1) to draw possible connections between the anger and linguistic agency research areas, (2) to test the influences of anger, linguistic agency, and their interaction on efficacy and activism intentions, (3) to offer practical suggestions to message designers and public health practitioners who wish to incorporate public' anger along with different type of linguistic framing (based on agency assignment) in their messaging strategies about sexual assault to motivate activism and support for sexual assault victims. In the sections that follow, the literature review will begin with an explanation of each area of research and the rationale for study predictions.

Chapter 2: Theoretical Rationale

Anger

Since Darwin (1872), scientists have studied emotions and their influences on attitudes and behaviors. Frijda (1986) found that emotions serve as a signal resulting in a need-state

that motivates the organism to enact a certain behavior in response to it. Frijda labeled this process as *action tendencies*. His work focused on people's behavioral responses to emotions in social environments (Van Kleef, 2017, p. 212). Extensions of Frijda's work (Schwarz & Clore, 1988) helped establish that various emotions have different effects on information processing. In their examination of negative emotions and affective states, such as pain and fear, Nesse and Williams (1996) found that these emotions and states are signals to the body to warn us of danger. Specifically, pain signals the body that tissue is being damaged, fear signals that escape is desirable (Nesse & Williams, 1996), and anger alerts us that something unjust has occurred or that a goal attainment was interrupted (Lazarus, 1991; Reiser, 1999).

When an injustice or goal interruption is perceived to have occurred, it can give rise to an emotion like anger. Anger is an emotional experience that can range in intensity from feelings of annoyance to rage (Allcorn, 1994; Rubin, 1986). Because anger experience and expression can be quite intense, anger is often considered a socially undesirable emotion that should be avoided (Lambert, Eadeh, & Hanson, 2018). However, the effects of anger can be adaptive, motivating desirable behaviors directed at resolving the anger-inducing situation. Anger motivates people to remove the barriers that obstruct their goals (Lazarus, 1991) and to maintain or regain control of a situation (Pfau et al., 2001).

In addition to distinct action tendencies, anger influences message processing. Anger can spark an analytical thinking process (Lerner, 1990; Schwarz & Clore, 1988). Angry people use both the argument's quality and heuristics to make judgements and decisions on how to behave (Moons & Mackie, 2007). Specifically, angry people are more likely to evaluate a heuristic cue, such as source credibility, when making judgements (Bodenhausen et al., 1994). Although angry people tend to focus on heuristic cues, the cues are evaluated and are only relied upon when the

cue is relevant to judgement (Moons & Mackie, 2007). This means that angry people can have both the propensity and motivation to process and that their selective use of heuristic cues reflects the cue's perceived validity and not the failure to process analytically (Moons & Mackie, 2007). In addition to these effects, the level of anger the message induces and perception of efficacy influences the level of message processing. Overall, research indicates that anger has the ability to increase the depth of information processing (Chaiken, 1980, 1987; Moons & Mackie, 2007; Nabi, 2002; Nabi et al., 2007; Petty & Cacioppo, 1986).

There are several theories that offer useful frameworks to guide theorizing about the effects of anger. Building from Frijda's (1986) functional emotion theories (Lazarus, 1991) along with dual-process models (Chaiken, 1987), the Cognitive Functional Model (CFM; Nabi, 1999, 2002b) drew upon core elements from previous research to describe the effects of discrete emotions on message processing (Nabi, 1999). CFM states that when a theme of an emotion is recognized, it may give rise to an emotional response true to its relational theme. For instance, when goal interruption is perceived—a core relational theme of anger—the physiological arousal associated with anger is likely to follow. When a relational theme is recognized, the message will motivate attentional focus according to the attentional tendencies of a given emotion and bring about information processing consistent with the processing tendencies of that emotion (Nabi, 2002b). Depending on the type of emotion experienced, motivated attention will either impede (e.g., fear) or facilitate (e.g., anger) information processing. Similar ideas are echoed in Appraisal Tendency Framework (ATF; Lerner & Keltner, 2000), developed around the same time as CFM and grounded in the same foundational concepts.

Although originated in different fields of research—CFM (Nabi, 1999; 2002b) comes from communication and ATF (Lerner & Keltner, 2000, 2001; Lerner & Tiedens, 2006) comes

from psychology—both approaches contend that emotions not only derive from (Smith & Ellsworth, 1985) but also elicit (Keltner et al., 1993; Lerner & Keltner, 2000; Tiedens & Linton, 2001; Nabi, 1999) specific cognitive appraisals and these appraisals result in emotion-driven motivations, producing distinct judgments in decision-making (Lerner & Keltner, 2000) and persuasive outcomes (Nabi, 1999). When cognitive appraisals such as anger are elicited, the results are appraisals of certainty, control, low levels of pleasantness, and others' responsibility (Lerner et al., 2015). This result is a perception that a negative event is managed by and induced by others (Lerner et al., 2015). Together ATF and CFM provide the backbone for understanding anger and its effect on persuasion and decision-making.

Despite many conceptual similarities across CFM and ATF both theories diverge in their views regarding the effects of anger. CFM predicts that anger appeals will likely produce adaptive outcomes on cognitions and behavioral intentions, and ATF discusses anger as detrimental to decision making (see Bessarabova, Banas, & Bernard, 2020, for a discussion). Attempting to bridge these discrepancies in research Turner (2007) proposed Anger Activism Model (AAM; Turner, 2007) that specifies instances wherein anger appeals are likely to produce adaptive versus maladaptive outcomes on cognitions and behavioral intentions (Turner, 2007). AAM posits that the individual must have strong efficacy beliefs and a high level of anger intensity to maximize the adaptive behavior (Turner, 2013). Efficacy and magnitude of anger are important aspects to consider when predicting behavior. When anger at a high intensity is paired with a course of action to right a wrong or fix an injustice (i.e., high efficacy beliefs), potential for behavioral intentions to avenge the injustice can be maximized. "When efficacy beliefs are strong, anger has a linear effect on attitudes, cognitions, and intentions," but the relationship between anger and these outcomes is curvilinear when efficacy beliefs are low (Turner, 2013).

This means that efficacy moderates the effect of anger on message processing and persuasion (Turner, Richards, Bessarabova, & Magid, 2019).

Research has long sought to comprehend the cognitive and emotional processes that motivate people to participate in activism behaviors such as protesting, signing petitions, and writing to government officials (Kornhauser, 1959). AAM argues that individual efficacy beliefs are the key to activism behaviors. Turner and colleagues' research experimentally manipulates efficacy (in addition to anger) to examine the effects predicted in AAM (e.g., Turner et al., 2019). However, in the absence of efficacy inductions, when individual efficacy beliefs are held equal across the experimental conditions through random assignment, the energizing properties of anger should be able to generate efficacy perceptions on their own (see Bessarabova et al., 2020, for a discussion) and subsequently motivate adaptive behaviors. This reasoning serves as the foundation for the first three predictions in this study:

H1: Relative to the control condition, anger induction increases (a) anger perceptions, (b) efficacy perceptions, (c) behavioral intentions to participate in activism.

H2: As anger perceptions increase, behavioral intentions to participate in activism increase.

H3: As efficacy perceptions increase, behavioral intentions to participate in activism increase.

In addition to its ability to incite action, the cognitive appraisals associated with anger can motivate people to focus on the agent responsible for an anger-inducing situation in search of a target that can be blamed (Lerner & Keltner, 2000). The target of blame in the context of sexual assault may not be immediately clear: The linguistic constructions often used to talk about this issue tend to rely on abstract terms, referring to sexual assault as something that happens to

the assault survivor, instead of directly naming the perpetrator of the assault as the linguistic agent in the statement. To understand how these linguistic constructions affect behavioral intentions and victim blaming of angry people, we turn to literature on linguistic agency.

Linguistic Agency

When describing an event, speakers make many choices in regard to lexicon and grammar, and these choices convey attitudes about the event to their audience. One of these decisions—an area that has recently been investigated in health communication (McGlone, Bell, Zaitchik, & McGlynn, 2013)—is linguistic agency assignment. *Linguistic agency assignment* is the attribution of action or change to one or more entities involved in an event (Dowty, 1991). It determines causality for an event and, when assigned to a non-human entity, it implies human passivity in the event (Dowty, 1991). For example, agency can be placed on the human (e.g., "The man sexually assaulted the woman"), and agency can be placed on the threat (e.g., "The woman was sexually assaulted"). Sociolinguistics have identified different types of agency as discussed below (Berman, 2005; w, Miller, & Beazley, 1995; McGlone & Harding, 1998; Wiener & Mehrabian, 1968).

Agency assignments can often be flexible. For example, the entity that agency is assigned to can be alive (e.g., "Ticks have made their way to Oklahoma") or inanimate ("The treatment succeeded"), concrete ("The salt level increased") or abstract ("Climate change awareness increased"). In addition, agency assignment can be used to indicate variations of responsibility for events or actions. When an individual is told *they* will pick up or catch a disease, it implies that due to their own behavior, they will contract an illness. When an individual is told the *disease* will infect or target them, responsibility shifts to the illness (Dowty, 1991). When assigning the action to people referred to as *human agency assignment*, the threat is described as

a passive entity. Alternatively, when assigning action to the threat, known as *threat agency assignment*, the threat is described as an active entity and its risk as less within an individual's control (Dragojevic, Bell, & McGlone, 2014). Much research has been done in the health communication field to examine the effect of agency assignment on perceptions of persuasive messages.

For example, McGlone et al. (2013) examined the effects of agency assignment on persuasive messages about the H1N1 influenza virus at the peak of the H1N1 pandemic. Their participants were randomly assigned to two agency conditions: a *human* agency and a *virus* one. The virus-agency condition contained language such as, "H1N1 will infect half of the U.S. population." The human-agency condition stated, "Half of the U.S. population will contract H1N1." Mc Glone et al.'s (2013) results indicated, participants perceived H1N1 as a more severe threat, felt more vulnerable to infection, and had stronger intentions to get vaccinated when agency was assigned to the virus rather than the humans. This study demonstrated that agency assignment can be effective at increasing perceptions of threat and motivating self-protective behaviors. Overall, the findings of McGlone et al. (2013) and other studies indicate that agency assignment can create difference in threat perceptions (e.g., Bell, McGlone, & Dragojevic, 2013) as well as preferences for policy positions (e.g., Bell, McGlone, & Dragojevic, 2014) with human agency assignment being associated with greater perceptions of threat and increased protective policy endorsement (i.e., vaccinations) relative to non-human agency assignments.

Recent research by Dragojevic, Bell, and McGlone (2014) has extended the literature on agency assignment to an inanimate health threat (i.e., radon gas) and subsequently examined the effects of threat agency language on efficacy. Past research (Bell et al., 2014; McGlone et al., 2013) has found that relative to threat agency, human agency increases one's perceived

effectiveness of the recommendations to protect oneself against the threat (i.e. response-efficacy) and their ability to follow the recommendations (i.e., self-efficacy). Based on the above reasoning the following hypothesis is offered:

H4: Relative to abstract agency assignment, human agency assignment increases (a) efficacy and (b) behavioral intentions to participate in activism.

Interaction between Anger and Agency

The present study fills the gap in research by examining the interaction between anger and agency. Examining anger by agency interaction helps test whether angry people are indeed careful information processors. If they are, they should respond differently to various types of agency manipulations. Differences in agency assignment allow to shift the perceptions of responsibility for a given action. Because anger motivates the focus on responsibility and blame, making the target of blame explicit (human agency assignment) might facilitate decision making for angry individuals. When the target of blame is clear, anger should increase efficacy perceptions and result in the highest behavioral intention to engage in action, relative to all other conditions. Based on this reasoning the following interaction effect is predicted:

H5: An interaction between anger and linguistic agency is proposed such that human agency paired with anger induction results in the highest efficacy perceptions and activism intentions, relative to all other conditions.

Method

This data collection was approved by the university's Internal Review Board (IRB).

Participants

To examine study predictions, a sample of undergraduate students (N = 369) was recruited from a large public university in south-central United States. Because the data were

collected online, participants who did not complete 100% of the survey and who spent less than 600 seconds (10 minutes) or above 2,848 seconds (about 47 minutes) were removed from the study for either not spending enough time or too much time (and thus, undermining the effectiveness of experimental inductions). Using these exclusion criteria resulted in the final sample of 288 participants. The age of the sample ranged from 18 to 37 years of age (M = 19.72, SD = 1.72). Fifty six percent of the participants (n = 162) self-identified as female, and 1 person self-identified as non-binary. Participants were allotted extra credit in their communication course in exchange for their participation. Approximately 75% of the sample self-identified as White/European American, 9% Hispanic/Latino, 5% African American/Black, 4% Asian, 4% American Indian/Native American, 1% Other, .7% Central Asian/Indian/Pakistani, and .3% Pacific Islander/Hawaiian.

Design and Procedure

A 2 (emotion: anger, control) \times 2 (agency: abstract, human) independent-group design was employed wherein agency and emotion were manipulated. Participants self-selected to contribute to the study and were recruited through the communication department's research participation pool. They were invited to complete the survey online via Qualtrics.

After completing a consent form, participants were randomly assigned to one of four conditions where they were asked to read a fictitious newspaper article headline describing a local event. A news headline was chosen as a modality to deliver experimental inductions because headlines are short and commonly contain less details, which allows to clearly represent the manipulations and maximize experimental control. Emotion was manipulated by assigning participants to either a news headline about sexual assault (anger induction) or the opening of a

sushi restaurant (control) and then asking them to write a guided essay about emotions that each headline induced. The wording of the emotion induction is as follows:

In the questions above we asked you about your emotional reactions towards the headline you read, please describe in a paragraph or two what specifically about the situation described in the headline caused those emotional reactions. You will be required to stay on this page for at least two minutes before you can move on to the next page.

To manipulate agency, the action in the headline was either attributed to a person perpetrating the assault (human agency assignment) or was described in abstract terms without referencing the agent of the action (abstract agency assignment). In the anger-abstract-agency condition participants read: "Sexual Assault Reported by OKC Woman on Sunday," whereas in the anger-human-agency condition, the wording was as follows: "Local Man Sexually Assaulted OKC Woman on Sunday." In the control condition, participants were provided with a message that stated: "Sushi Restaurant Opened in OKC on Sunday" for the abstract agency condition and "Local Man Opened Sushi Restaurant in OKC on Sunday" in the human agency assignment condition. The headline was crafted to appear as a page of a newspaper to contribute to the realism of the experimental manipulations. For all inductions as they appeared in the experiment, see Appendix A-D.

After reading one of the headlines, participants were asked to report their perceived level of anger, efficacy, and behavioral intentions to participate in activism. Participants were then debriefed and provided contact information for the college's counseling center if they needed it. The debrief contained an explanation of the nature of the materials used in the study, as well as information for how they were altered for the purpose of the study.

Instrumentation

Preliminary remarks. All continuous variables in the study (i.e., anger, efficacy, and intentions to participate in activism) were measured using magnitude scales (Lodge, 1981).

Participants were asked to indicate their attitudes or opinions on a scale from 0 to infinity, with 100 indicating a moderate amount. Exact wording on these instructions, as well as all the questionnaire items comprising all indexes, can be found in the appendices. All dependent variables were examined for outliers and violations of normality assumption. Variables that appeared non-normal were first winsorized by recoding outliers to a lower value and then transformed to help meet the assumption of normality (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). An index of the dependent variable was formed by using principal component analysis with an unrotated one-component solution and saving standardized regression component scores, producing an index with M = 0.00, SD = 1.00, range \approx -3.00 to +3.00 (Afifi, Clark, & May, 2004; DiStefano, Zhu, & Mîndrilă, 2009). The means, standard deviations, and bivariate correlations between all variables in the study are provided in Table 1.

Dependent Variables

Perceptions of anger. Participants were asked to indicate their level of anger across 7 items borrowed from Dillard and Shen (2005): angry, annoyed, irritated, aggravated (e.g. "How irritated do you feel after reading the headline"; $\alpha = .94$).

Perceptions of efficacy. Participants were asked to indicate their level of efficacy across 6-items using the scale from Meczkowski et al. (2016). The items were modified to fit the topic of the study. Participants were asked about their perceived sense of efficacy in regard to supporting survivors of sexual assault (e.g., "I am confident in my ability to do something to support people who were sexually assaulted"; $\alpha = .87$).

Behavioral intentions to participate in activism. Participants were asked to indicate their level of intentions to participate in activism behaviors using 7 items adopted from Poorisat, Boster, and Salmon (2019). They were asked about their willingness to participate in activities such as sharing online content, writing a letter to a congressperson, chatting with friends online, to advocate for those who were sexually assaulted (e.g., "How willing are you to write on your personal web page about the need to allocate resources to help people who were sexually assaulted"; $\alpha = .94$).

Results

Analytics Strategy

Hypotheses 1, 4, and 5 were tested in a Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) with the anger and agency inductions entered as the independent variables, and perceptions of anger, perceptions of efficacy, and behavioral intentions to participate in activism entered as the dependent variables. H2-3 were tested in a regression with anger and efficacy perceptions used as the independent variables and behavioral intention to participate in activism used as the dependent variable.

Multivariate Results

The multivariate effect of anger was significant, Wilks' $\Lambda = .39$, F(3, 282) = 147.32, p < .001, $\eta_{p^2} = .61$, and so was the multivariate effect of agency, Wilks' $\Lambda = .97$, F(3, 282) = 2.89, p = .04, $\eta_{p^2} = .03$. However, the multivariate effect of anger by agency interaction was not significant, Wilks' $\Lambda = .99$, F(3, 282) = 1.13, p = .34.

Hypothesis Test

Hypothesis 1. H1 predicted that relative to the control condition, anger induction increases (a) anger perceptions, (b) efficacy perceptions, (c) behavioral intentions to participate

in activism. The univariate effects indicated that anger induction (M = 0.77, SD = 0.78) resulted in significantly higher perceptions of anger, F(1, 284) = 432.33, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .60$, relative to the control condition (M = -0.77, SD = 0.45). These results indicate that the anger manipulation was successful and offer support for H1a. However, anger induction (M = 0.06, SD = 1.09) did not result in higher perceptions of efficacy, F(1, 284) = .47, p = .50, relative to the control condition (M = -0.05, SD = 0.92); thus, H1b was not supported. Similarly, the anger induction (M = 0.07, SD = 1.06) did not result in higher behavioral intentions to participate in activism, F(1, 284) = 1.09, p = .30, relative to the control condition (M = -0.06, SD = 0.95). Thus, H1c was also not supported.

Hypotheses 2-3. H2 predicting that as anger perceptions increase, behavioral intentions to participate in activism increase, and H3 predicting that as efficacy perceptions increase, behavioral intentions to participate in activism increase, were tested in a regression. The overall regression model was significant, F(2, 285) = 76.46, p < .001, $R^2 = .35$, $R^2_{adj} = .35$. The results indicated that for one unit increase in anger, there was a .13 (p = .009) unit increase in behavioral intentions. Similarly, for one unit increase in efficacy, there was a .56 (p < .001) unit increase in behavioral intentions. Thus, H2 and H3 were supported.

Hypothesis 4. H4 predicted that relative to abstract agency assignment, human agency assignment increases (a) efficacy and (b) behavioral intentions to participate in activism. The univariate effects indicated that the human agency induction (M = -0.15, SD = 0.93) resulted in greater perceptions of efficacy, F(1, 284) = 7.50, p = .007, $\eta_p^2 = .03$, relative to the abstract agency induction (M = 0.16 SD = 1.05). Thus, H4a was supported. However, human agency induction (M = -0.07, SD = 0.92) did not affect behavioral intentions to participate in activism,

F(1, 284) = .46, p = .50, relative to the abstract agency induction (M = 0.07, SD = 1.07); thus, H4b was not significant.

Hypothesis 5. H5 predicted that an interaction between anger and linguistic agency is proposed such that human agency paired with anger induction results in the highest efficacy perceptions and activism intentions, relative to all other conditions. H5 was not supported: The interaction effect on efficacy perceptions was not significant, F(1, 284) = 0.46, p = .29, and so was the effect on activism intentions, F(1, 284) = 1.86, p = .17.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Eighty-one percent of women and 43% of men have experienced sexual harassment/assault in their lifetime (CDC, 2015). Social movements such as #MeToo and the subsequent #TimesUp have been successful at maximizing anger in the public around women's rights, specifically focusing on sexual violence. The goal of movements such as these is to unite people against sexual assault and harassment. In exploring how to motivate people to engage in activism, the current study sought to examine two factors—anger and linguistic agency assignment—to understand how these factors and their interaction affect perceptions of efficacy to solve sexual violence as a societal problem along with activism intention.

Building from previous theoretical research on anger and integrating it with agency research, the goal of the present study was threefold: (1) integrate emotion and linguistic agency literature, which has not been done before, (2) understand whether and how anger and agency interact to motivate people to participate in activism, and (3) test whether anger and linguistic agency affects efficacy perceptions and activism intentions. The first hypothesis predicted a main effect of anger induction on anger and efficacy perceptions, as well as behavioral intentions to participate in activism; this prediction was partially supported. Although anger induction fostered

significantly higher anger perceptions relative to the control condition (indicating a successful anger manipulation), it did not result in higher perceptions of efficacy, and it did not result in higher behavioral intentions to participate in activism. The second hypothesis predicted that perceptions of anger would increase behavioral intentions to participate in activism; the prediction was supported. Similarly, the third hypothesis predicted that perceptions of efficacy would increase behavioral intentions to participate in activism; this prediction was supported. The fourth hypothesis predicted that there would be a main effect of agency assignment on efficacy and behavioral intentions to participate in activism. The effect of agency on intentions was not significant. Although the main effect of agency on efficacy was significant, it was not in the predicted direction: Abstract agency (not human, as hypothesized) resulted in higher efficacy perceptions. Overall, these results do not offer support for H4. Lastly, the fifth hypothesis predicted that there would be an interaction effect of anger and linguistic agency on behavioral intentions to participate in activism and efficacy perceptions: Both parts of H5 were not supported. Together these results indicate that anger induction significantly increased perceptions of anger, and an increase in anger perceptions was positively associated with behavioral intentions to participate in activism. In addition, abstract agency increased efficacy beliefs (albeit contrary to the hypothesized relationship), and an increase in efficacy perceptions subsequently increased intentions to participate in activism. This means that neither the anger induction nor the agency induction had a direct effect on intentions to participate in activism. These relationships have implications for future research, which are explored in the next section.

Previous research on media effects has focused on aspects of language and text content. Specifically, communication and psychology researchers have long discovered that anger can be a motivator (Turner, 2013). Although the area of linguistic agency and persuasion is in its

infancy (Berman, 2005; Henly, Miller, & Beazley, 1995; McGlone & Harding, 1998; Wiener & Mehrabian, 1968), the present study extends theoretical research by integrating the two fields by examining the effects of these areas together. In addition to these extensions, the present study has implications for practical use.

A practical implication from the present study is that these findings may offer guidance to message designers regarding the linguistic choices to be made when crafting messages to raise awareness about sexual assault. The depiction of the abstract linguistic agency news article provided in this current study is consistent with how the perpetrators of sexual assault cases are traditionally portrayed in news media (e.g., Franiuk, Seefelt, Cepress, & Vandello, 2008). Contrary to the predicted effect, these results point to relative superiority of traditional framing (i.e., abstract agency assignment) as compared to human agency assignment: The study participants had greater perceptions of efficacy when abstract agency assignment was used and the increase in efficacy to address the problem subsequently increased activism intentions. Despite these results, researchers and practitioners should not underestimate the potential utility of human-agency assignment. Although the format of the human-agency messages may have seemed unusual to the participants, and that is why they indicated greater efficacy beliefs in the abstract agency condition. Using the traditional abstract constructions can also be more conducive to motivating the habitual responses to information about sexual assault resulting in an increase in victim-blaming and perpetuation of rape myths. Human agency assignment has potential to disrupt reliance on victim blaming because such constructions make the target or blame clear, subsequently motivating more empathetic treatment of assault survivors. Overall, government agencies and public health advocates should take these findings under advisement

when considering whether to modify the language of persuasive health messages to help better meet their goals of spreading awareness about public health threats.

Limitations and Future Directions

There are a number of limitations to discuss in the current study. The first limitation to address is that neither the anger or agency inductions had a direct effect on intentions to participate in activism. However, the anger induction did increase perceptions of anger, which in turn affected behavioral intentions. A similar relationship was found for abstract agency assignment that resulted in an increase in efficacy. In turn, efficacy increased behavioral intentions. These findings suggest a fully mediated relationship where the dependent variables are affected by the study inductions through their respective mediating variables: anger perceptions for anger induction and efficacy perceptions for agency induction. Future research should examine these relationships further.

The second limitation involves the number of induction messages employed. To strengthen the results, multiple messages should be used. Examining the effects of multiple messages would add to the validity of the study. In addition, future research should replicate this study with other dependent measures such as victim blaming, social distance, and others. Victim blaming (Gilmartin-Zena, 1983; Workman & Freeburg, 1999) and increased social distance (Esses & Dovidio, 2002; Grubb & Harrower, 2009), in particular, are typical and problematic reactions to sexual assault survivors; thus, these variables are important to consider. Because decreased victim blaming and increased perception of closeness to the survivor are imperative to sexual violence prevention, researchers should aim to identify the factors that contribute to more empathetic treatment of assault survivors.

Several future research directions stem from this study. As mentioned, the findings reported here should be replicated by using different topics and contexts. Anger has the power to mobilize an audience, and similar to the #MeToo movement, other movements such as Black Lives Matter, tend to also capitalize on anger to mobilize the public to participate in activism against racism. Thus, these results could be applicable beyond activism campaigns targeting sexual violence toward women. Future replications would help further validate these results (see Cook & Campbell, 1979, for a discussion).

Another potential future research area is to integrate anger and linguistic agency literature with the parasocial contact research (Schiappa et al., 2005). Celebrities such as Cate Blanchett, Kate Beckinsale, and Paz de la Huerta were victims of media mogul, Harvey Weinstein of Miramax, and have recently spoken out about their experiences with sexual violence. It is likely that combining human agency messages with celebrity advocacy would help magnify the persuasive potential of pro-social campaigns attempted to bring awareness about sexual violence, especially when directed at angry audiences.

Finally, future research should explore the effects of other discrete emotions in addition to anger. As mentioned, anger facilitates message processing whereas such emotions as fear, for instance, impedes it (Nesse & Williams, 1996). Future studies should compare the relative effects of these emotions. It is likely that fear would have the opposite effect on message processing and behavioral intentions to participate in activism as compared to anger.

Conclusion

This study explored the antecedents to activism intentions focusing on the topic of sexual assault. According to a recent study by CDC (2015), sexual assault is prevalent in the U.S., and as a result, survivors develop both detrimental mental and physical health problems. Although

recent social movements such as the MeToo movement (Bennett, 2017) have worked relentlessly to spread awareness about widespread sexual harassment and violence, the frequency of assault in the U.S. remain the same. To understand which variables can increase participation in social movements like MeToo, the effects of anger and agency manipulations were examined. Although the predicted anger by agency interaction was not supported, the results indicated that anger induction significantly increased perceptions of anger, and an increase in anger perceptions was positively associated with behavioral intentions to participate in activism. Contrary to the predicted relationship, abstract (not human) agency assignment increased efficacy perceptions, and the increase in efficacy was positively associated with activism intentions. Although the results did not provide consistent support for all the hypothesized relationships, these results have important theoretical and practical implications and offer promising directions for future research.

References

- 11 Facts About Sexual Assault. DoSomething. Retrieved September 4, 2020, from https://www.dosomething.org/us/facts/11-facts-about-sexual-assault
- Afifi, A. A., Clark, V., & May, S. (2004). Computer-aided multivariate analysis. New York, NY: Chapman and Hall.
- Allcorn, S. (1994). Anger in the workplace: Understanding the causes of aggression and violence. Westport, CT: Greenwood.
- Averill, J. R. (1982). *Anger and aggression: An essay on emotion*. New York, NY.

 Axelrod, R., & Hamilton, W.D. (1981). The evolution of cooperation. *Science*, *211*, 1390-1396.
- Bell, R. A., McGlone, M. S., & Dragojevic, M. (2013). Bacteria as bullies: Effects of linguistic agency assignment in health messages. *Journal of Health Communication*. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2013.798383.
- Bell, R., McGlone, M., & Dragojevic, M. (2014). Vicious viruses and vigilant vaccines: Effects of linguistic agency assignment in health policy advocacy. *Journal of Health Communication*, 19(10), 1178-1195.
- Bennett, J. (2017, November 30). The #MeToo Moment: When the Blinders Come Off. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/30/us/the-metoo-moment.html
- Berman, R. A. (2005). Developing discourse stance in different text types and languages. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *37*, 105-124.

- Bodenhausen, G. V., Sheppard, L. A., & Kramer, G. P. (1994). Negative affect and social judgment: The differential impact of anger and sadness. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 24, 45-62.
- Carlin, S. (2017). "Uma Thurman Is Seriously Angry about Sexual Misconduct in Hollywood." *Refinery* 29. https://www.refinery29.com/en-gb/2017/11/179688/uma-thurman-sexual-misconduct-hollywood-emotional-response
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). The Facts Behind the #Metoo Movement: A

 National Study on Sexual Harassment and Assault.
- Chaiken, S. (1980). Heuristic versus systematic information processing and the use of source versus message cues in persuasion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39, 752766.
- Chaiken, S. (1987). The heuristic model of persuasion. In M. P. Zanna, J. M. Olson, & C. P. Herman (Eds.), *Social influence: The Ontario symposium* (Vol. 5, pp. 339). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (1979). Quasi-Experimentation: Design and Analysis Issues for Field Settings. Houghton Mifflin.
- Cooper, B. (2018). *Eloquent Rage: A Black Feminist Discovers Her Superpower*. New York: St Martin's Press.
- Darwin, C. (1872). The expression of the emotions in man and animals. London: Murray.
- Dillard, J. P., & Shen, L. (2005). On the Nature of Reactance and its Role in Persuasive Health Communication. *Communication Monographs*, 72(2), 144–168. doi:10.1080/03637750500111815

- DiStefano, C., Zhu, M., & Mîndrilă, D. (2009). Understanding and using factor scores:

 Considerations for the applied researcher. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation,*14(20), 1-11. Retrieved from http://pareonline.net/getvn.asp?v=14&n=20.
- Dowty, D. (1991). Thematic proto-roles and argument selection. *Language*, 67, 547–619.
- Esses, V. M., & Dovidio, J. F. (2002). The role of emotions in determining willingness to engage in intergroup contact. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28, 1202–1214. doi:10.1177/01461672022812006
- Franiuk, R., Seefelt, J. L., Cepress, S. L., & Vandello, J. A. (2008). Prevalence and Effects of Rape Myths in Print Journalism. *Violence against Women*, *14*(3), 287-309.
- Frijda, N. H. (1986). The Emotions. Cambridge University Press.
- Garber, M. (2017). "All the Angry Ladies." *The**Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/entertainment/archive/2017/11/all-the-angry-ladies/545042/
- Gilmartin-Zena, P. (1983). Attribution theory and rape victim responsibility. *Deviant Behavior*, 4, 357–374. doi:10.1080/01639625.1983.9967622
- Grubb, A. R., & Harrower, J. (2009). Understanding attribution of blame in cases of rape: An analysis of participant gender, type of rape and perceived similarity to the victim. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, 15(1), 63-81.
- Henley, N. M., Miller, M., & Beazley, J. A. (1995). Syntax, semantic, and sexual violence:

 Agency and the passive voice. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, *14*(1-2), 60-84. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261927X95141004

- Keltner, D., Ellsworth, P., Edwards, K., & Tesser, A. (1993). Beyond Simple Pessimism: Effects of Sadness and Anger on Social Perception. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64(5), 740-752.
- Kornhauser, W. (1959). The politics of mass society. Glencoe, IL: The Free Press.
- Lambert, A., Eadeh, F., & Hanson, E. (2018). Anger and its Consequences for Judgment and Behavior: Recent Developments in Social and Political Psychology.

 https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/svcux
- Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Emotion and adaptation. New York: Oxford University.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Progress on a cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion. *American Psychologist*, 46, 819-834. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.46.8.819
- Lerner, H. (1990). The dance of intimacy: A woman's guide to courageous acts of change in key relationships. New York: Harper and Row. [EB1].
- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2000). Beyond valence: Toward a model of emotion specific influences on judgment and choice. *Cognition and Emotion*, *14*, 473–493.
- Lerner, J., Keltner, D., & Diener, Ed. (2001). Fear, Anger, and Risk. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81(1), 146-159.
- Lerner, J. S., Li, Y., Valdesolo, P., & Kassam, K. S. (2015). Emotion and decision making. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 799-823.
- Lerner, J.S., & Tiedens, L. Z. (2006). Portrait of the angry decision maker: how appraisal tendencies shape anger's influence on cognition. *Journal Behavioral Decision Making*, 19, 115–137. doi:10.1002/bdm.515

- Lodge, M. (1981). Magnitude scaling: Quantitative measurement of opinions. In Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences: Vol. 07–025. The United States of America: Sage Publications, Inc.
- McGlone, M. S., Bell, R. A., Zaitchik, S. T., & McGlynn, J. (2013). Don't let the flu catch you:

 Agency assignment in printed educational materials about the H1N1 influenza virus. *Journal of Health Communication*, 18, 740–756.
- McGlone, M. S., & Harding, J. L. (1998). Back (or forward?) to the future: The role of perspective in temporal language comprehension. *Journal of Experimental Psychology:*Learning, Memory and Cognition, 24, 1211–1223.
- Meczkowski, E. J., Dillard, J. P., & Shen, L. (2016). Threat appeals and persuasion: Seeking and finding the elusive curvilinear effect. *Communication Monographs*, 83(3), 373–395. doi:10.1080/03637751.2016.1158412
- Moons, W. G., & Mackie, D. M. (2007). Thinking straight while seeing red: The influence of anger on information processing. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 33, 706-720.
- Nabi, R. L. (1999). A cognitive-functional model for the effects of discrete negative emotions on information processing, attitude change, and recall. *Communication Theory*, 9, 292–320. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2885.1999.tb00172.x
- Nabi, R. L. (2002). The theoretical versus the lay meaning of disgust: Implications for emotion research. *Cognition and Emotion*, *16*, 695–703.
- Nabi, R. L. (2002b). Anger, fear, uncertainty, and attitudes: A test of the cognitive-functional model. *Communication Monographs*, 69, 204–216. doi:10.1080/03637750216541

- Nabi, R., Moyer-Guse, E., & Byrne, S. (2007). All Joking Aside: A Serious Investigation into the Persuasive Effect of Funny Social Issue Messages. Communication Monographs, 74(1), 29-54. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ou.edu/10.1080/03637750701196896
- Nesse, R. M., & Williams, G. C. (1996). Why we get sick: The new science of Darwinian medicine. Vintage.
- Petty, R. E., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1986). The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 19, pp. 123205). New York: Academic Press.
- Pfau, M., Szabo, E. A., Anderson, J., Morrill, J., Zubric, J., & Wan, H. (2001). The role and impact of affect in the process of resistance to persuasion. *Human Communication Research*, 27, 216–252.
- Poorisat, T., Boster, F. J., & Salmon, C. T. (2019). Predicting Activism for a Social Cause, *Communication Studies*, 70:1, 1-18, DOI: 10.1080/10510974.2018.1504808
- Reiser, C. (1999). *Reflections on anger: Women and men in a changing society*. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Rubin, J. (1986). The emotion of anger: Some conceptual and theoretical issues. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 17, 115–124.
- Schiappa, E., Gregg, P. B., & Hewes, D. E. (2005). The parasocial contact hypothesis.

 Communication Monographs, 72, 92–115. doi:10.1080/0363775052000342544
- Schwarz, N., & Clore, G. L. (1988). How do I feel about it? The informative function of affective states. In K. Fielder & J. Forgas (Eds.), Affect, cognition, and social behavior, 44-62. Toronto: C. J. Hogrefe.

- Smith & Ellsworth (1985). Patterns of Cognitive Appraisal in Emotion. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology 48(4):813-38 · doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.48.4.813.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using multivariate statistics*. (S. Hartman, Ed.) (5th ed.). USA: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Tiedens, L. Z., & Linton, S. (2001). Judgment under emotional certainty and uncertainty: The effects of specific emotions on information processing. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 81, 973-9.
- Turner, M. M. (2007). Using emotion in risk communication: The anger activism model. *Public Relations Review*, *33*, 114–119. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2006.11.013
- Turner, M. M. (2013). Emotional Branding: What, When and Why. In W. D. Evans (Ed.) *The psychology of branding* (pp. 15-37). Hauppauge, NY: Nova Science Publishers.
- Turner, M. M., Richards, A. S., Bessarabova, E. & Magid, Y. (2019). The Effects of Anger Appeals on Systematic Processing and Intentions: The Moderating Role of Efficacy.

 Communication Reports, 33:1, 14-26, DOI: 10.1080/08934215.2019.1682175
- Van Kleef, G. (2017). The social effects of emotions are functionally equivalent across expressive modalities. *Psychological Inquiry*, 28, 211-216
- Wiener, M., & Mehrabian, A. (1968). *Language within language: Immediacy, a channel in verbal communication*. New York: Appleton Century Crofts.
- Workman, J. E., & Freeburg, E. W. (1999). An examination of date rape, victim dress, and perceiver variables within the context of attribution theory. *Sex Roles*, *41*, 261–278. doi:10.1023/A:1018858313267

Table 1. Bivariate Correlations between All Variables in the Study

	1	2	3	4	
1. Anger Induction					
2. Agency Induction	09				
3. Anger Perceptions	.78**	05			
4. Efficacy Perceptions	.05	16**	.11		
5. Intentions to Participate in	.07	07	.19**	.58	
Activism					

Note. N = 176.

^{*} *p* < .05; ** *p* < .01; *** *p* < .001

Appendix A - Anger Human Agency Condition

In this portion of the study we're going to show you a news headline. Please read it carefully. We will ask you questions to find out what you think of it.



Appendix B - Anger Abstract Agency Condition



Appendix C - Control Abstract Agency Condition



Appendix D - Control Human Agency Condition



Appendix E - Attitude Anger Index

In this portion of the study we're going to ask you questions about the headline presented to you.

There are no right or wrong answers: We are just interested in your views.

- 1. How irritated do you feel after reading the headline?
- 2. How sad do you feel after reading the headline?
- 3. How angry do you feel after reading the headline?
- 4. How content do you feel after reading the headline?
- 5. How annoyed do you feel after reading the headline?
- 6. How happy do you feel after reading the headline?
- 7. How aggravated do you feel after reading the headline?

Appendix F - Behavioral Intentions to Participate in Activism

We have a few more questions to ask you about sexual assault. Remember, there are no right or wrong answers.

- 1. How willing are you to sign a petition to tell the government to allocate resources to help people who were sexually assaulted?
- 2. How willing are you to share online content to encourage others to support people who were sexually assaulted (e.g., forward emails, tweet or re-tweet information, share a link, click 'Like')?
- 3. How willing are you to write a letter to your congressperson asking them to allocate resources to help people who were sexually assaulted?
- 4. How willing are you to chat with your friends online about the need to allocate resources to help people who were sexually assaulted?
- 5. How willing are you to write on your personal web page (e.g., blog and Facebook) about the need to allocate resources to help people who were sexually assaulted?
- 6. How willing are you to participate in a demonstration to raise awareness about allocating resources to help people who were sexually assaulted?
- 7. How willing are you to give an oral presentation in public about the need to allocate resources to help people who were sexually assaulted?

Appendix G - Perceptions of Efficacy

- 1. I am able to do something to support people who were sexually assaulted.
- 2. I can easily do something to support people who were sexually assaulted if I want to.
- 3. I am confident in my ability to do something to support people who were sexually assaulted.
- 4. Supporting sexual assault victims is a good way to protect myself and others against assault.
- 5. Supporting people who were sexually assaulted is helpful if I want to avoid and help others avoid being sexually assaulted.
- 6. Supporting people who were sexually assaulted can help me prevent sexual assault from happening to me and/or others.